
Dated 08-12-16 

Village of Mukwonago 
REGULAR PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

Notice of Meeting and Agenda 
Monday, August 15, 2016 

 
Time:   6:30 p.m.  
Place:  Mukwonago Municipal Building/Board Room, 440 River Crest Court  
 
 
1. Call to Order  

 
2. Roll Call  

 
3. Approval of minutes for the July 12, 2016 regular meeting  

 
4. Public Hearing 

All persons interested in making comments about any of the public hearing items will be heard. Formal petitions 
and written comments regarding any of the public hearing items may be submitted tonight. During the public 
hearing(s), if you wish to be heard, the Plan Commission asks that you begin by stating your name and address, 
speak for no more than three minutes and attempt to avoid duplication. Each person speaking at the public 
hearing must sign the Public Hearing Appearance sign-in sheet before speaking. The sign-in sheet is available 
on the table located at the back of the room.  

 
A. Conditional use permit requested by Tina M. O’Bryan, DAA Smokehouse LLC, to allow 

for outside merchandise sales by installing outdoor seating at the property located at 325 
Bay View Road Suites D and E 

B. Conditional use permit requested by Eddie Cash, Eddie Cash Show, Inc., to allow for an 
indoor theater at the property located at 575 Bay View Road Suite 7 

C. Conditional use permit requested by Curt Wiebelhaus, Mukwonago Area School District, 
to allow for the construction of building additions and renovations to Mukwonago High 
School and accessory structures on the property located at 605 School Road (605 CTH 
NN) 
 

5. Unfinished Business 
Discussion and Possible Action on the Following Items 

 
A. Recommendation to Village Board concerning Site Plan and Architectural Plan Review 

requested by Kevin Sinnett, Instrument Development Corp., for the construction of an 
addition on the property located at 820 Swan Dr., known as MUKV1970987 

B. Recommendation to Village Board concerning Site Plan and Architectural Plan Review 
requested by Warren Hansen, WEH Properties/Edgewood Village, LLC, for the 
construction of apartment buildings on the property located at S92W27800 Edgewood 
Ave., known as MUKV2091998 
 

6. New Business 
Discussion and Possible Action on the Following Items 

 
A. Recommendation to Village Board concerning conditional use permit requested by Tina 

M. O’Bryan, DAA Smokehouse LLC, to allow for outside merchandise sales by installing 
outdoor seating at the property located at 325 Bay View Road Suites D and E, known as 
MUKV2009956005 



Plan Commission Agenda 
August 15, 2016 
Page 2 of 2 

 

B. Recommendation to Village Board concerning conditional use permit requested by Eddie 
Cash, Eddie Cash Show, Inc., to allow for an indoor theater at the property located at 575 
Bay View Road Suite 7, known as MUKV2010978002 

C. Recommendation to Village Board concerning conditional use permit requested by Curt 
Wiebelhaus, Mukwonago Area School District, to allow for the construction of building 
additions and renovations to Mukwonago High School and accessory structures on the 
property located at 605 School Road (605 CTH NN), known as MUKV1960998001 

D. Parking vehicles on the grass area between the parking lot and I43 at the Lynch 
Dealership of Mukwonago located at 280 and 282 East Wolf Run 

E. Conceptual review for annexation, rezoning, mini-storage, and other business on the 
property located on the south side of at CTH ES at Hidden Lakes Dr. 

F. Status report on the progress of the Steering Committee of the Comprehensive Plan 
Update 

 
7. Adjournment  
 

It is possible that members of, and possibly a quorum of, members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at 
the above stated meeting to gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above stated meeting other than the 
governmental body specifically referred to above in this notice. Please note that, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate 
the needs of individuals with disabilities through appropriate aids and services. For additional information or to request this service, contact the 
Clerk’s Office, 440 River Crest Court, (262) 363-6420, Option 4. 



Village of Mukwonago 
Waukesha and Walworth Counties, Wisconsin 
July 12, 2016 Plan Commission Minutes 
Page 1 of 2 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
Tuesday, July 12, 2016 

 
Call to Order  
Deputy Clerk/Treasurer Taubert called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m. located in the Board 
Room of the Mukwonago Municipal Building, 440 River Crest Ct. 

 
Roll Call  
Commissioners present: Joe Hankovich 
    Sterling Fairchild 
    John Meiners 

Mark Penzkover 
Joe Abruzzo 
Ken Werner 

Commissioner excused: Fred Winchowky 
 
Also present:   Bruce Kaniewski, Village Planner 

Judith Taubert, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer 
Bob Harley, Building Codes Official 

    Ron English, Village Attorney     
 

Minutes 
Motion by Werner/Hankovich to approve the June 14, 2016 regular meeting minutes as 
presented carried.  

 
Public Hearing 
Public hearing for a request to amend the conditional use permit requested by John Theisen, 
Lighthouse Lubes Real Estate LLC, to remove certain conditions from the permit for the 
property located at 1160 N. Rochester Street, known as MUKV1962990002 opened at 6:32 
p.m.  No one appeared at the Public Hearing. 
 
Public hearing closed at 6:33 p.m. 

 

Unfinished Business 
210 Grand Ave. Historic Preservation Commission Review 
Motion by Hankovich/Werner to approve the design and materials as submitted to construct 
a boat shelter at the property located at 210 Grand Ave as it now qualifies in the Historic 
Preservation District carried.  The applicant can now go to the Board of Appeals and apply 
for a variance. 

 
New Business 

Lighthouse Lubes Real Estate LLC conditional use permit 
Motion by Werner/Hankovich to recommend the Village Board approve the requested 
conditional use amendments with the proposed revisions to Condition #2 and Condition #4 
of Resolution 2015-31 as stated in the Village Planners letter dated July 5, 2016 carried. 
1. In Condition #2, eliminate the last sentence, but in its place insert the following:  “In 

addition, the cross access connection between the subject site and the Waukesha State 
Bank site shall remain as shown on the plans referenced in Condition #3.” 



Village of Mukwonago 
Waukesha and Walworth Counties, Wisconsin 
July 12, 2016 Plan Commission Minutes 
Page 2 of 2 

 

2. In Condition #4, eliminate the entire paragraph, but in its place insert the following:  “The 
cross access connection between the subject site and the site to the south shall not be 
required as shown on the plans referenced in Condition #3. 

 
Recommendation to Village Board concerning Site Plan and Architectural Plan 
Review requested by Kevin Sinnett, Instrument Development Corp., for the 
construction of an addition on the property located at 820 Swan Dr., known as 
MUKV1970987 
Motion by Hankovich/Abruzzo to hold this item over until the storm water management 
issue is resolved carried. 
 
Recommendation to Village Board concerning Site Plan and Architectural Plan 
Review requested by Warren Hansen, WEH Properties/Edgewood Village, LLC, for 
the construction of apartment buildings on the property located at S92W27800 
Edgewood Ave., known as MUKV2091998 
Motion by Hankovich/Werner to hold this item over for more information and will review the 
Site Plan and Architectural Plan again at the August Planning Commission meeting carried. 
 
Steering Committee of the Comprehensive Plan Update  
The Village Planner Kaniewski gave a positive report of the results of the Open House on 
June 28th.  Planning Commissioner Jon Meiners and Jason Wamser also gave their 
prospective on the progress of the Steering Committee’s progress. 
 
Change in date and location for the August meeting 
Motion by Werner/Abruzzo to change the next meeting date to Monday, August 15, 2016 at 
6:30p.m. carried. 
 

Adjournment  
Meeting adjourned at 7:54p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Judith A. Taubert 
Deputy Clerk/Treasurer 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE VILLAGE OF MUKWONAGO PLAN 
COMMISSION TO CONSIDER AN APPLICATION FOR A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 

REQUESTED BY TINA M. O’BRYAN, DAA SMOKEHOUSE LLC, FOR OUTSIDE 
MERCHANDISE SALES 

 
Please take notice that there will be a public hearing before the Plan Commission of the Village 
of Mukwonago in the Board Room of the Village Hall, 440 River Crest Court, Mukwonago, 
Waukesha and Walworth Counties, on Monday, August 15, 2016, commencing at 6:30 p.m., to 
consider the following matter(s): 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Conditional Use Permit – Outside Merchandise Sales 
TAX KEY/ADDRESS: MUKV2009956005, 325 Bay View Road Suites D and E 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT 1 CERT SURV 9913 VOL 92/177 PT NE1/4 SEC 35 T5N R18E 

DOC# 4017342 
OWNER: Citizens Bank 
APPLICANT: Tina M. O’Bryan, DAA Smokehouse LLC 
MATTER:   Applicant seeks Conditional Use permit to allow for outside 

merchandise sales by installing outdoor seating at the property 
located at 325 Bay View Road Suites D and E.  The property is zoned 
“B-2” General Business District.  Sec. 100-157. Commercial and 
Office Uses lists Outdoor merchandise sales as a conditional use.   

 
At this time all interested persons will be afforded a hearing.  Information regarding the above 
noticed hearing(s) may be obtained in the Clerk’s Office.   
 
Steven A. Braatz, Jr. 
Village Clerk 
 
Pub:  July 27 and August 3, 2016 
 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE VILLAGE OF MUKWONAGO PLAN 
COMMISSION TO CONSIDER AN APPLICATION FOR A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 

REQUESTED BY EDDIE CASH, EDDIE CASH SHOW, INC., FOR AN INDOOR THEATER 
 
Please take notice that there will be a public hearing before the Plan Commission of the Village 
of Mukwonago in the Board Room of the Village Hall, 440 River Crest Court, Mukwonago, 
Waukesha and Walworth Counties, on Monday, August 15, 2016, commencing at 6:30 p.m., to 
consider the following matter(s): 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Conditional Use Permit – Indoor Theater 
TAX KEY/ADDRESS: MUKV2010978002, 575 Bay View Road Suite 7 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT 1 CERT SURV 5393 VOL 43/230 PT NE1/4 & NW1/4 SEC 35 

T5N R18E DOC# 3241761 
OWNER: James C Ewert Revocable Trust 
APPLICANT: Eddie Cash, Eddie Cash Show, Inc. 
MATTER:   Applicant seeks Conditional Use permit to allow for an indoor theater 

at the property located at 575 Bay View Road Suite 7.  The property 
is zoned “B-2” General Business District.  Sec. 100-157. 
Entertainment and Recreation Uses lists Theater, indoor as a 
conditional use.   

 
At this time all interested persons will be afforded a hearing.  Information regarding the above 
noticed hearing(s) may be obtained in the Clerk’s Office.   
 
Steven A. Braatz, Jr. 
Village Clerk 
 
Pub:  July 27 and August 3, 2016 
 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE VILLAGE OF MUKWONAGO PLAN 
COMMISSION TO CONSIDER AN APPLICATION FOR A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 

REQUESTED BY CURT WIEBELHAUS, MUKWONAGO AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT, FOR 
THE CONSTRUCTION OF BUILDING ADDITIONS AND RENOVATIONS AND 

ACCESSORY STRUCTURES ON THE PROPERTY 
 

Please take notice that there will be a public hearing before the Plan Commission of the Village 
of Mukwonago in the Board Room of the Village Hall, 440 River Crest Court, Mukwonago, 
Waukesha and Walworth Counties, on Monday, August 15, 2016, commencing at 6:30 p.m., to 
consider the following matter(s): 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Conditional Use Permit – Installation of building additions and 

renovations and accessory structures 
TAX KEY/ADDRESS: MUKV1960998001, 605 School Road (605 CTH NN) 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: PT SE1/4 SEC 22 T5N R18E LYING S OF HY & PT NW1/4 SEC 27 

T5N R18E :: EX R277/454 :: EX R2884/169 :: EX COM SE COR 
SE1/4 SEC 22; S00°15'43"E 33.00 FT; S89°13'34"W 30.00 FT; 
N00°15'43"W 33.00 FT TO S LI SE1/4 SEC; S89°13'34"W 72.00 FT; 
N01°16'27"W 267.00 FT; N89°13'34"E 102.00 FT TO E LI SE1/4 
SEC; S01°16'27"E 267.00 FT TO BGN :: ALSO COM NE1/4 COR 
NE1/4 SEC 27; S00°15'43"E 33.00 FT; S89°13'34"W 242.87 FT THE 
BGN; S00°15'43"E 242.50 FT; S89°13'34"W 116.39 FT; 
N00°15'43"W 242.50 FT; N89°13'34"E 116.39 TO BGN :: SUBJECT 
TO EASEMENT COM NE COR NE1/4 SEC 27; S00°15'43"E 33.00 
FT; S89°13'34"W 242.87 FT; S00°15'43"E 24.09 FT THE BGN; 
S00°15'43"E 20.00 FT; S89°13'34"W 3.46 FT; S00°15'43"E 198.41 
FT; S89°13'34"W 20.00 FT; N00°15'43"W 218.41 FT; N89°13'34"E 
23.46 FT TO BGN :: INCLUDE EASEMENT COM SE COR SE1/4 
SEC 22; S00°15'43"E 10.61 FT THE BGN; S00°15'43"E 22.39 FT; 
S89°13'34"W 6.33 FT; N43°33'29"W 34.51 FT; N00°15'43"W 7.67 
FT; S89°13'34"W 7.17 FT; N43°33'29"W 96.35 FT; N01°16'27"W 
29.73 FT; S43°33'29"E 151.32 FT TO BGN 

OWNER: Mukwonago Union High School 
APPLICANT: Curt Wiebelhaus, Mukwonago Area School District 
MATTER:   Applicant seeks a Conditional Use permit to allow for the construction 

of building additions and renovations to Mukwonago High School 
and accessory structures on the property.  The site is zoned “P-1” 
Public and Semipublic District.  Sec. 100-251(1), lists all structures 
as conditional uses. 

 
At this time all interested persons will be afforded a hearing.  Information regarding the above 
noticed hearing(s) may be obtained in the Clerk’s Office.   
 
Steven A. Braatz, Jr. 
Village Clerk 
Pub:  July 27 and August 3, 2016 



 



 

 

1 

 

August 12, 2016 

Fred Winchowky, Village President 
Village of Mukwonago 
440 River Crest Court 
Mukwonago, WI 53149 
 
Re:  Site Plan and Architectural Plan Review/Edgewood Village Apartments 
 
Dear President Winchowky and Members of the Plan Commission: 
 
Warren Hansen, P.E., of WEH Properties/Edgewood Village, LLC submitted plans for 30 apartment units 
in five (5) buildings for site plan and architectural plan review.   The property is owned by Citizen’s Bank 
of Mukwonago. 
 
The proposal is now ready for recommendation to the Village Board.   Attached please find my July 5, 
2016 report with extensive background about the proposal.    This report will highlight how issues 
indicated in the July 5th report have been addressed. 
 
Status of Prior Issues 
 
Storm Water Management Plan:  The Village Engineer has certified that the submitted Storm Water 
Management Plan meets the requirements to proceed toward finalizing the plans. 
 
Site Plan for Turning Radii:   A revised site plan has been submitted showing larger turning radii for fire 
apparatus into the site at the intersection of the boulevard drive with the drive and parking area for the 
apartments.  However, turning radii will be verified during review of the final engineering plans. 
 
Curb and Gutter:   The plan shows full curb and gutter within the boulevard drive, but does not provide 
curb and gutter within the drive and parking areas providing access to the units (however the center 
landscaped area in front of each building will have curb and gutter).   Since the number of guest parking 
spaces are less than 20 (the parking code threshold for curb and gutter) and sheet drainage on this site 
helps with storm water management, staff recommends that the applicant’s plan remain as is. 
 
Guest Parking:  The site plan shows nine guest parking spaces that are not located in front of the 
enclosed garages.  Both the Plan Commission and staff questioned the adequacy of the nine spaces to 
provide for guest parking needs of the 30 dwelling units.   Staff prepared a plan showing additional guest 
parking spaces extending eastward from each the north and south ends of the pavement (from the 
dumpster enclosures).   Staff and applicant agreed that a provision will be included in the Developer’s 
Agreement that extra spaces will be added if an overload of guest parking spaces occurs.   
 



 

 

2 

 

Architecture:   After a meeting with staff, the applicant submitted new exterior building elevations 
showing additional brick on portions of the side and rear elevations of the proposed buildings.   The new 
plans will be presented to the Commission at the meeting.  In addition, samples of building materials will 
be presented at the meeting. 
 
Recommendation 
 
I recommend approval of the requested site plan and architectural plan.  The proposal is consistent with 
R-10 development standards.  I further recommend approval of the site and architectural plans subject 
to the following list of conditions. 
 

1. Approval of the plans for the proposed Edgewood Village development along the east side of 
Edgewood Avenue, zoned as R-10 Multi-Family District,  for five-6 unit multi-family structures, 
shall be subject to the package of documents and plans submitted by the applicant to the Village 
of Mukwonago.  The plans may be further modified to conform to other conditions of approval; 
the building and floor plans may be modified with the approval of the Building Inspector to 
conform to Building and Fire Safety Codes and all plans may be further modified to conform to 
Village design standards.   However, the basic layout of the site as depicted the site plan shall 
remain unchanged. 

2. All ingress/egress drives and parking areas shown on the site plan shall remain private and shall 
be maintained in a usable and passable condition at all times.   

3. Approval shall be subject to approval of a Storm Water Maintenance Agreement and a 
Developer’s Agreement by the Village Board.   The Developer’s Agreement shall list these 
conditions of approval, a list of all final plans for the project, and responsibilities for off-site 
improvements.  Furthermore, the Developer’s Agreement shall provide for applicant installed 
stop sign exiting the site, the site plan, future guest parking if needed, extension of Village 
utilities within the Edgewood Avenue right-of-way, on-site easements for Village maintained 
utilities if needed, and other provisions for the protection of the public health, safety and 
welfare. 

4. With approval, the Plan Commission and Village Board grant allowance of multiple principal 
buildings on one lot. 

5. Prior to issuance of the first building permit, a final landscape plan, exterior site lighting plan and 
dumpster enclosure plan shall be submitted for the approval of the Zoning Administrator. 

6. The property shall be maintained in a clean condition, free of debris at all times.  No junk, 
inoperable or abandoned vehicles, or vehicles undergoing repair shall be kept on the property at 
any time.   No vehicles shall be parked in any area not designated for vehicle parking as provided 
for on Sheet 5.   

7. Only signs allowed by the Village Sign Code, and approved by either the Zoning Administrator or 
Plan Commission, shall be allowed on the property. 

8. Prior to the start of any site construction or issuance of a building permit, whichever occurs first, 
the following shall occur:    



 

 

3 

 

a. The Village Engineer shall approve all site engineering plans and documents, including a 
complete Storm Water Management Plan.   

b. Village Board approval of a Storm Water Maintenance Agreement and a Developer’s 
Agreement (to include a submitted and Village approved Letter of Credit for any off-site 
improvements) pursuant to Condition No. 3. 

c. Submittal of the signed easements granted to the Village of Mukwonago providing 
access to maintain on-site sanitary sewer and potable water lines and hydrants. 

d. All final site development plans shall be consistent with the plans noted in Condition No. 
1 or as modified and identified in the Developer’s Agreement. 

e. Approval of the plans by the Fire Chief, which may include, but are not limited to, the 
internal fire suppression system, external fire department connection location and 
hydrant locations. 

f. Approval of building plans by the Building Inspector after receipt of approval of building 
plans by the State of Wisconsin. 

g. Approval of building plans shall include appropriate locations of the external mechanical 
equipment to be placed hidden from view from neighboring properties.  

9.       Prior to temporary occupancy issuance for any building, and if needed prior to final occupancy 
permit, the following shall occur: 

a.    Completion of all site grading and storm water management facilities in accordance with 
approved plans, including landscaping that is a part of the storm water management 
facilities.  

b.    Completion of all exterior lighting for the building in accordance with approved plans. 
c.     Completion of the building in accordance with approved plans and all applicable codes. 
d.    Completion of a hard drive and parking surfaces from the exterior public right-of-way to 

the general area surrounding the building, including installation of handicapped parking 
signs and ramp. 

e.    Completion of the dumpster enclosures for the buildings so occupied. 
10.   Prior to final occupancy permit for any building, which shall be issued not later than 120 days 

after any temporary occupancy permit, the following shall occur: 
a.    Completion of all items within Condition No. 9. 
b.  Completion of paving and striping of the entire parking area, in accordance with 

approved plans. 
c.     Installation of all site landscaping. 
d.  Completion of all required public improvements as specified in the Developer’s 

Agreement. 



 

 

4 

 

e.    Completion of any other municipal code requirement in the interest of the health, safety 
and welfare of the public. 

 
I appreciate the opportunity to assist the Village of Mukwonago with the review of this proposal.  Should 
any questions arise, please feel free to contact me. 
  
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Bruce S. Kaniewski, AICP 
Village Planner 
 
Cc:    John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
 Steve Braatz, Jr., Village Clerk (via email) 
 Joe Hankovich, Supervisor of Inspections/Zoning Administrator (via email) 
 Bob Harley, Codes Official (via email) 
 Kurt Peot, P.E., Village Engineer (via email) 
 Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
 Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
 Dave Brown, Utilities Superintendent (via email) 
 Ron Bittner, Public Works Director (via email) 
 Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 
 Warren Hansen, P.E., Applicant (via email) 
 Charlie Miller, Citizens Bank of Mukwonago (via email) 
 
 
 
 



 

 

1 

 

July 5, 2016 

Fred Winchowky, Village President 
Village of Mukwonago 
440 River Crest Court 
Mukwonago, WI 53149 
 
Re:  Site Plan and Architectural Plan Review/Edgewood Village Apartments 
 
Dear President Winchowky and Members of the Plan Commission: 
 
Warren Hansen, P.E., of WEH Properties/Edgewood Village, LLC submitted plans for 30 apartment units 
in five (5) buildings for site plan and architectural plan review.   The property is owned by Citizen’s Bank 
of Mukwonago. 
 
Because the preliminary storm water management plan has not been certified by the Village Engineer as 
required by Village Code, the Plan Commission cannot take action.  However, applicant and Village staff 
request Plan Commission comments that can be addressed with updated plans. 
 
The proposed site is 4.44 net acres located on the east side of Edgewood Avenue, with the northern 
edge of the site about 160 feet south of CTH ES (Fox Street).   The site is zoned R-10, Multi-Family 
Residential.   The type of units proposed is a permitted use in R-10.  Overall proposed density of 6.76 
dwelling units per acre meets the standard of the current R-10 district. 
 
The majority of the site is surrounded by lands within the Town of Vernon, but is contiguous along the 
southwest corner to the Fox River View Subdivision.   To the east and south is vacant property owned by 
Craig Hein that once was occupied by the Edgewood Golf Course and Driving Range.   About half of the 
south part of the Hein site is within Village corporate limits.  Circa 2005 the Hein site was subject to a 
development proposal for a mixture of multi-family, two-family and single family dwellings.   About the 
same time on the subject site, which was once occupied by a restaurant building of various names over 
the years, a proposal for multi-family units was submitted when the site was annexed to the Village and 
rezoned to R-10. 
 
The subject site is now vacant except for remnants of the restaurant parking lot.  The site slopes 
downward about 16 feet from northwest to southeast.   On the next page please see a map of the area 
showing topography with the subject site highlighted in a light red color.    
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

2 

 

 
 
Proposed Building Design 
 
Each 2-story building will house six dwelling units with two lower units and four upper units.  Each unit 
has individual access from the outside and individual access from an attached two-car garage (although 
two garages in each building are only one car wide but 32 feet deep). 
 
The living area of the two-bedroom, two bath units average 1,287 square feet.   The anticipated monthly 
rent ranges from $1,150 to $1,300. 
 



 

 

3 

 

The exterior elevation will be covered by a combination of cultured stone veneer and vinyl lap siding.  I 
recommend adding 2-story stone veneer elements to the side and rear of the buildings to match the 2-
story element proposed for the building front, because four-sided architecture is needed on this site. 
 
Proposed Site Design 
 
The site will be accessed by a boulevard drive with 16+ foot lanes separated by a seven foot wide 
median.  The boulevard private drive will be located in the middle of the Edgewood Avenue frontage.   
When previous and denser projects were proposed, staff requested access via a public street on the 
adjacent Hein property that aligned with Red Fox Run on the opposite side of Edgewood Avenue.  Now 
with the less dense proposal, staff agrees with the ingress/egress point as shown.  However, if a right-of-
way is provided to the south, staff desires approval of this proposal require connection to the right-of-
way for improved emergency access flow on the site.  Likewise, if the 1.37 acre property to the north is 
annexed and redeveloped, a likely scenario is additional apartment buildings with access through the 
subject site. 
 
Beyond the boulevard drive a north-side drive provides access to each building.  All attached garages 
face inward.   The Fire Department asks the applicant provide information to check and potentially 
revise the plan to ensure fire equipment can negotiate the turns on the interior of the boulevard drive. 
 
The new parking standard (adopted December 2015) for multi-family is: 
 
“One (1) garage space per dwelling unit plus 1.2 spaces per dwelling unit that may be garaged or 
outdoor spaces, although at least 0.2 spaces shall be outdoors to provide for guest parking.  The Plan 
Commission may require additional parking pursuant to the design and type of multi-family dwellings.” 
 
The proposed plan exceeds the amount of required garage and outdoor spaces.  On the other hand, the 
proposed plan shows the installation of curb and gutter only within the boulevard drive.   The parking 
standards require the following: 
 
“All vehicle use areas with parking for 20 or more vehicles on a subject property, shall be constructed 
with full concrete and gutter surrounding the vehicle use areas (both driveways and parking areas); 
except the Plan Commission may waive the requirement of curb and gutter if an existing parking lot is 
expanded that does not have curb and gutter.  Gaps in the curbing may occur to facilitate property 
parking lot drainage.” 
 
While the plan shows 69 outside parking spaces, 60 of them are spaces in front of garage doors.  
Therefore, I ask the Plan Commission for direction on this matter.   No curb and gutter assists better 
storm water management, while installation of curb and gutter presents a picture of a quality 
development.  For your information, Premier Woods Phase 2 apartments were recently approved with 
curb and gutter completely surrounding the drive and guest parking spaces.     



 

 

4 

 

A very minimal landscape plan was submitted.  A formal and more extensive landscape plan is needed 
commensurate with a quality development. 
 
Other Comments 
 
Village Department Heads reviewed the proposal.  In addition to comments within previous sections of 
this report, other comments are as follows: 
 

1. A stop sign exiting the site is needed. 
2. Public sewer and water lines must be extended within the Edgewood Avenue right-of-way equal 

to the site’s north property line, according to long standing Village policy. 
3. Fire hydrant locations must be reviewed prior to final approval of site engineering. 
4. A pre-existing utility easement exists along the north property line, which we understand is an 

abandoned telephone easement.   Staff desires a 30 foot wide utility easement for future 
extension of sewer and water to the east. 

5. The location of the dumpsters should be reconsidered to allow easier access for pick-up and to 
locate the dumpsters away from the likely place for piling plowed snow. 

6. An exterior lighting plan must be submitted. 
 
Summary 
 
The proposal is not yet ready for approval pending a certification of the storm water management plan.  
In the meantime, staff requests Plan Commission feedback on the following points: 
 

1. Adding 2-story stone veneer elements to the side and rear of the buildings to match the 2-story 
element proposed for the building front. 

2. The adequacy of internal vehicle turning movements. 
3. The requirement for full curb and gutter. 
4. The relocation of dumpsters. 
5. Any other comments Commissioner’s may have. 

 
I appreciate the opportunity to assist with the review of this proposal.  Should questions arise, please 
feel free to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Bruce S. Kaniewski, AICP 



 

 

5 

 

 
Cc:    John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
 Steve Braatz, Jr., Village Clerk (via email) 
 Joe Hankovich, Supervisor of Inspections/Zoning Administrator (via email) 
 Bob Harley, Codes Official (via email) 
 Kurt Peot, P.E., Village Engineer (via email) 
 Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
 Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
 Dave Brown, Utilities Superintendent (via email) 
 Ron Bittner, Public Works Director (via email) 
 Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 
 Warren Hansen, P.E., Applicant (via email) 
 Charlie Miller, Citizens Bank of Mukwonago (via email) 
 
 
 
 





















 

 

1 

 

August 12, 2016 

Fred Winchowky, Village President 
Village of Mukwonago 
440 River Crest Court 
Mukwonago, WI 53149 
 
Re:  Site Plan and Architectural Plan Review/Instrument Development Corporation 
 
Dear President Winchowky and Members of the Plan Commission: 
 
Kevin Sinnett on behalf of Instrument Development Corporation, 820 Swan Drive, has submitted 
application and plans for site plan and architectural plan approval.   Proposed are north and south 
additions to the existing back shop and office of 10,000 square feet.  The north addition is proposed at 
9,900 square feet and the south addition is 2,500 square feet.  The 6.65 acre site is zoned M-4 
Median/Heavy Industrial District and is located at the northeast corner of Holz Parkway and Swan Drive.  
Please see the description of the project submitted by the applicant. 
 
While there are remaining matters to be resolved, Village staff believes the proposal is ready for 
recommendation to the Village Board with conditional approval of several matters that must be handled 
before the Village will issue any building permit.    
 
Attached please find my July 8, 2016 report that outlined three matters.   Staff has verified that with the 
number of employees on the site over two work shifts, the proposed 93 parking spaces on the site are 
sufficient.   The dimensions of the drives and parking areas have been verified as correct.  Lastly, while 
the metal panels on the south addition exceed 25% of exterior, on the entire building with the north and 
south additions, the metal panels are less than 25% and meet the criterial for the M-4 zoning district. 
 
Recommendation 
 
I recommend approval of the proposal subject to the conditions list below.   The matters remaining to 
be resolved are reflected in the first and second conditions. 
 

1. Prior to issuance of any building permit for the subject additions, the following must occur with 
Village Engineer confirmation that the issues have been completed. 
        a.  Stabilization of the site grading that has already occurred, in accordance with the Village  

issued erosion control permit. 
b. Submittal of site wetland delineation to be approved by the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources. 
       c.   A Storm Water Management Plan in accordance with Village Municipal Code Chapter 34.   



 

 

2 

 

2. Prior to issuance of any building permit for the subject additions, the Mukwonago Fire Chief 
shall determine the need and type of fire suppression within the additions.  

3. Approval of the plans for the 2,500 square foot south addition and 9,900 square foot north 
addition of Instrument Development Corporation at 820 Swan Drive, zoned as M-4 
Medium/Heavy Industrial District, shall be subject to the package of documents and plans 
submitted by the applicant to the Village of Mukwonago.  The plans may be further modified to 
conform to other conditions of approval and all plans may be further modified to conform to 
Village design standards.   However, the basic layout of the site as depicted the site plan shall 
remain unchanged. 

4. All ingress/egress drives and parking areas shown on the site plan shall remain private and shall 
be maintained in a usable and passable condition at all times.   

5. If a Storm Water Management Plan is required as determined by the Village Engineer, approval 
shall be subject to approval of a Storm Water Maintenance Agreement by the Village Board.   

6. With approval, the Plan Commission and Village Board grant allowance of multiple principal 
buildings on one lot. 

7. Prior to issuance of the first building permit, a final landscape plan, exterior site lighting plan and 
dumpster enclosure plan shall be submitted for the approval of the Zoning Administrator. 

8. The property shall be maintained in a clean condition, free of debris at all times.  No junk, 
inoperable or abandoned vehicles, or vehicles undergoing repair shall be kept on the property at 
any time.   No vehicles shall be parked in any area not designated for vehicle parking as provided 
on the site plan.   

9. Only signs allowed by the Village Sign Code, and approved by either the Zoning Administrator or 
Plan Commission, shall be allowed on the property. 

10. Prior to the start of any site construction or issuance of a building permit for both additions or 
the additions individually, whichever occurs first, the following shall occur:    

a. Compliance with Conditions #1 and #2. 
b. Village Board approval of a Storm Water Maintenance Agreement, if needed. 
c. All final site development plans shall be consistent with the plans noted in Condition No. 

3. 
d. Approval of the plans by the Fire Chief, which may include, but are not limited to, the 

internal fire suppression system, external fire department connection location and 
hydrant locations. 

e. Approval of building plans by the Building Inspector after receipt of approval of building 
plans by the State of Wisconsin. 

f. Approval of building plans shall include appropriate locations of external mechanical 
equipment to be placed hidden from view from neighboring properties.  

11.     Prior to temporary occupancy issuance for any addition, and if needed prior to final occupancy 
permit, the following shall occur: 



 

 

3 

 

a.   Completion of all site grading and storm water management facilities (if needed) in 
accordance with approved plans, including landscaping that is a part of the storm water 
management facilities.  

b.    Completion of all exterior lighting for the building in accordance with approved plans. 
c.     Completion of the building in accordance with approved plans and all applicable codes. 
d.    Completion of a hard drive and parking surfaces from the exterior public right-of-way to 

the general area surrounding the building, including installation of handicapped parking 
signs. 

e.    Completion of the dumpster enclosures for the buildings so occupied. 
12.   Prior to final occupancy permit for any addition, which shall be issued not later than 120 days 

after any temporary occupancy permit, the following shall occur: 
a.    Completion of all items within Condition No. 11. 
b.  Completion of paving and striping of the entire parking area, in accordance with 

approved plans. 
c.     Installation of all site landscaping. 

  d.   Completion of any other municipal code requirement in the interest of the health, safety 
and welfare of the public. 

 
I appreciate the opportunity to assist the Village of Mukwonago with the review of this proposal.  Should 
any questions arise, please feel free to contact me.               
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Bruce S. Kaniewski, AICP 
 
Cc:    John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
 Steve Braatz, Jr., Village Clerk (via email) 
 Bob Harley, Supervisor of Inspections (via email) 
 Kurt Peot, P.E., Village Engineer (via email) 
 Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
 Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
 Dave Brown, Utilities Superintendent (via email) 
 Ron Bittner, Public Works Director (via email) 
 Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 



 

 

4 

 

 Kevin Sinnett, Applicant (via email) 
 Joe Sinnett, Architect (via email) 
 Matt Gluszcz, COO of IDC (via email) 



 

 

1 

 

July 8, 2016 

Fred Winchowky, Village President 
Village of Mukwonago 
440 River Crest Court 
Mukwonago, WI 53149 
 
Re:  Site Plan and Architectural Plan Review/Instrument Development Corporation 
 
Dear President Winchowky and Members of the Plan Commission: 
 
Kevin Sinnett on behalf of the Instrument Development Corporation, 820 Swan Drive, has submitted 
application and plans for site plan and architectural plan approval.   Proposed are north and south 
additions to the existing back shop and office of 10,000 square feet.  The north addition is proposed at 
9,900 square feet and the south addition is 2,500 square feet.  The 6.65 acre site is zoned M-4 
Median/Heavy Industrial District and is located at the northeast corner of Holz Parkway and Swan Drive.  
Please see the good description of the project submitted by the applicant. 
 
During the course of review, Village staff observed that grading commenced for the north addition 
without proper permits.  The site has been “tagged” to stop work and a citation forwarded to the 
applicant.  The site must be stabilized before proceeding with approval and it has been determined a 
storm water management plan must be submitted.  However, Village staff asks for Plan Commission 
feedback to staff comments that can be addressed with updated plans.    
 
On the next page please see the site shown in the middle of an aerial photo.  Overlaid on the photo is a 
known wetland shown in light green.  With the existence of the known wetland, the Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources (DNR) will require wetland delineation before they issue a Notice of 
Intent permit.   In addition, the green cross hatch is a designated Isolated Natural Resource Area.   An 
Isolated Natural Resource Area does not necessarily mean total preservation, but a DNR representative 
has informed staff it might be a wetland. 
 
In addition to site stabilization, the need for wetland delineation and a storm water management plan, 
staff has the following comments for Plan Commission direction: 
 

1. Amount of Parking Spaces.   The new parking standards adopted in December 2015 require 3 
spaces per each 1,000 square feet of manufacturing and office space.  A total of 47,000 square 
feet building space with the additions requires 141 spaces, while 93 are shown on the plan.  
However, the parking standards state the following: 

 
“For situations of building additions or a new use occupying an existing building, if utilization of 
building space for production, material storage and warehousing does not necessitate three (3) 



 

 

2 

 

spaces per 1,000 square feet, with justification provided by the building occupant the  Plan 
Commission may set the minimum parking requirement for production, material storage and 
warehousing space at two (2) spaces per 1,000 square feet, while the minimum parking 
requirement for other building area remains at three (3) spaces per 1,000 square feet.” 
 
Therefore, the Plan Commission may determine that 93 spaces on the site are sufficient. 

 

                                   
 

2. Exterior Design of Additions.   The M-4 design standards include the following: 

“Building materials and color.   

a. Exterior building materials shall convey an impression of durability. Materials such as 
decorative masonry, stone, brick block, aggregate panels and glass are permitted. Dryvit, metal 
and stucco may be used as trim material, not to exceed 25 percent of exterior area. Vinyl and 
aluminum siding are not permitted.  



 

 

3 

 

b. Exterior building colors shall be nonreflective, subtle, neutral, or earth tone. The use of high 
intensity colors, metallic colors, black, or fluorescent colors shall be prohibited. Building trim 
and architectural accent elements may feature brighter colors, but such colors shall be muted, 
not metallic, not fluorescent, and not specific to particular uses or tenants. Standard corporate 
and trademark colors shall be permitted only on sign face and copy areas.” 

The north addition with painted masonry block, splitface and smooth face block conforms to the 
standard, in my opinion.  Metal panels on the south addition do not conform. 

3. Parking Lot Dimensions.  A fully dimensioned site plan is needed to show that driveways and 
new parking spaces conform to required standards.   To that end, it appears the driveway to the 
back portion of the site must be widened to conform to the following new standard within the 
parking requirements:

“All driveways internal to the site shall be designed for 2-way traffic at a minimum width of 24 
feet, unless Plan Commission approval is received with justification from the applicant for a 20 
foot 2-way traffic driveway or a 16 foot 1-way traffic lane (this does not apply to single-family, 
two-family or multi-family where a driveway directly extends from a public right-of-way to a 
garage for the individual dwelling unit).” 

 
Staff looks forward to your direction.  I any questions arise, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Bruce S. Kaniewski, AICP 
 
Cc:    John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
 Steve Braatz, Jr., Village Clerk (via email) 
 Joe Hankovich, Supervisor of Inspections/Zoning Administrator (via email) 
 Bob Harley, Codes Official (via email) 
 Kurt Peot, P.E., Village Engineer (via email) 
 Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
 Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
 Dave Brown, Utilities Superintendent (via email) 
 Ron Bittner, Public Works Director (via email) 
 Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 
 Kevin Sinnett, Applicant (via email) 
 Joe Sinnett, Architect (via email) 
 Matt Gluszcz, COO of IDC (via email) 











Memorandum 
 

Date 06.14.2016 Distribution 

  
To Plan Commission 
 
From Joe Sinnett, AIA 
 
Project  Instrument Development Corp New 

Additions 
Project Number 215003.00 
 
Re Project Summary 
 

 
Instrument Development Corporation is proposing two new additions to provide more space in 
their growing operations in their ultra-precision machining business.  Both additions will occur on 
their back plant.  The first addition will be a new 2,500 SF office addition to provide additional 
office space along with a new corporate conference/training room.  This addition will have a 
steel structure with steel stud framed exterior walls that will be finished with smooth face 
masonry along the base of the building to match the existing building.  Then a corrugated metal 
accent panel will be used on the office as an accent to the all masonry existing building.  At the 
entry and corner of the building a stack bond brick will be used to anchor the corner of the 
building.  The addition to the north of the existing back plant will be a steel framed structure with 
steel girts and a metal panel substrate and finished on the exterior with a masonry block veneer 
to match the existing back plant.   
 
All hours of operation will remain unchanged with the new addition.  Also trash/recycle facilities 
will remain and not increase.  These are currently screened from public view by a wood slat 
fence that is 7’-0” h and other views are screened by a wooded area. 
 
Parking on site will see (23) additional parking stalls added for a total of 93 stalls total on site 
with 80 provisional stall could be provided.  The total provided with provisional stalls equals 173 
stalls and exceeds the 172 required. 
 
 
 
 
 
Joseph A Sinnett, AIA 



��������	��
�������
�������

�������������

����
���
��������

���������
�������
���������

�������������

��������������	�
��

��
�

���
����

��
��

��
��

��
��

������� �����!����	�
����������
�������������

������� �����!����	�
��"�����

�������������

�
�#�� ���$%���&����'
���%����
�'��!�����
����	�'��!�����

���%����
����'�������(��!����������)�"���
���
�����������	����'��������(��!�������������
���
��������������������������	
���	���������������

�����*���"����
����&%���+����������

���������������
������������
���������������
�������������
�
������������������������

�)���
���

��
�����&��

��
�����&��

�
����
���

��
����
���

�
��
�

��
�

��

��
��,
������+
	#

������,
������+
	
#

��
��
�,

�
��
��
�+

	
#

���
��,
�

�
����+
	

#

����
���
��������
��)���

�

����-��.

����-��
.

�
���
�,��
��&���

�������	�
��	��	�
�-�������,
������+
	#�����

/!������� ������
	�
�-������,
������+
	#������

/!�������� ������
	�
�-���
��,
������+
	#������

/!�������� ������
	�

&
��+%����� ���� ��������

��
�
��
,

�
�
��
��
+

	
#

����-��. ���-��.

����-��.

��
�� -
� �
.

����-��.

����-��.

��&����������� �
���
��
���%������ ������
	�

��&����������� �
���
��
�����
���	
���+��

��
��-
� �
.

�������
���%�%��
�
�#�� ���
���

�����
���
���%�%��
���
��!	��	����

���+��%������������
�
�#�� �
��

�������	���


�	�������	������

�������
���%�%��
����&�
����&
�
 �&�����,���&
�������	���
��	�������	������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����

	��������������	�� ���������������	

������� �+%����� 
�
������&
����,�+��	#�+%����� 

������
	��
����&������
	�

��������	��
�������'�&��
���
����

��
	#�+����&
����,�+��	#

������� �+%����� 
�
������&
����,�+��	#�+%����� 
������
	��
����&������
	�

���������
�������
�
������&
����,�+��	#�+%����� 
������
	��
����&������
	��+��	#
���&
�	��������� �+%����� 



DEBURRING

302

SHOP ADDITION

301

PASSIVE LAB

303

WOMEN'S RESTROOM

304

MEN'S RESTROOM

305

BREAK ROOM

220

SHIPPING

& RECEIVING

E
X

S
T

. 
C

A
S

E
W

O
R

K

MOVE VENDING MACHINE HERE

EXISTING

RESTROOMS

EXISTING

RESTROOMS

820 SWAN DRIVE

MUKWONAGO, WI 53149

IDC - BACK PLANT EXPANSION 003 | 06.14.2016

PLANS



D.O.E. OFFICE

108

CORRIDOR

101

CONFERENCE ROOM

102 OFFICE

104

OFFICE

105

OFFICE

106

ENGINEERING

107

Q.C. OFFICE

202

QUALITY CONTROL

201

SHOP

204

UNISEX RESTROOM

203

D.O.E. SECURE STORAGE

109

STORAGE

103

820 SWAN DRIVE

MUKWONAGO, WI 53149

IDC - BACK PLANT EXPANSION 004 | 06.14.2016

PLANS



NEW OFFICE ADDITION

CMU 1

METAL PANEL 1

BRICK 1 WINDOW 1

RTU

METAL COPING 1

BRICK 1

METAL PANEL 1

CMU 1

CMU 1

CMU 2

CMU 1

CMU 3

CMU 1

CMU 2

EXISTING BUILDINGNEW SHOP ADDITION NEW OFFICE ADDITION

WINDOW 1

METAL COPING 1

RTU RTU

NEW OFFICE ADDITION EXISTING BUILDING NEW SHOP ADDITION

CMU 1

CMU 2

CMU 1

CMU 3

CMU 1

CMU 2

CMU 1

METAL PANEL 1

WINDOW 1
RTU

RTU RTU

METAL COPING 1 METAL COPING 1

NEW SHOP ADDITION EXISTING BUILDING

820 SWAN DRIVE

MUKWONAGO, WI 53149

IDC - BACK PLANT EXPANSION 005 | 06.14.2016

ELEVATIONS

ASSEMBLIES & COMPONENTS
BRICK 1 MODULAR CLAY BRICK MASONRY IN STACK BOND WITH TINTED MORTAR

COLOR; BASIS OF DESIGN IS ENDICOTT'S MANGANESE IRONSPOT VELOUR

CMU 1 12" SPLITFACE CMU, PAINTED LIGHT GRAY

CMU 2 12" 1 SCORE SMOOTHFACE CMU, PAINTED GRAY

CMU 3 12" FLUTED SPLITFACE CMU, PAINTED LIGHT GRAY

METAL COPING 1 PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING WITH CONTINUOUS CLEATS ON 3/4"

PRESSURE TREATED PLYWOOD BLOCKING; COLOR: BLACK

METAL PANEL 1 CONCEALED FASTNER FLUSH METAL PANEL; BASIS OF DESIGN: METAL SPAN

DESIGNER SERIES 16" FLUTED PANEL, COLOR: TUNDRA

WINDOW 1 ALUMINUM FRAMED STICK-BUILT THERMALLY BROKEN STOREFRONT

WINDOW, COLOR: BLACK



820 SWAN DRIVE

MUKWONAGO, WI 53149

IDC - BACK PLANT EXPANSION 006 | 06.14.2016

3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES

METAL PANEL 1

CORRUGATED HORIZONTAL

METAL PANEL

BRICK 1

MODULAR BRICK

MANGENES IRON SPOT

CMU 1

CONCRETE BLOCK TO

MATCH EXISTING  BUILDING

LIGHT GRAY

PAINT EXISTING BLOCK

DARK GRAY

PAINT EXISTING DOORS



820 SWAN DRIVE

MUKWONAGO, WI 53149

IDC - BACK PLANT EXPANSION 007 | 06.14.2016

3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES



��������	��
�������
�������

�������������

����
���
��������

���������
�������
���������

�������������

��������������	�
��

��
�

���
����

��
��

��
��

��
��

������� �����!����	�
����������
�������������

������� �����!����	�
��"�����
�������������

�
�#�� ���$%���&����'
���%����
�'��!�����
����	�'��!�����

���%����
����'�������(��!����������)�"���
���
�����������	����'��������(��!�������������
���
��������������������������	
���	���������������

�����*���"����
����&%���+����������

���������������
������������
���������������
�������������
�
������������������������

�)���
���

��
�����&��

��
�����&��

�

����
���

��

����
���

����
���

��

��
��,
������+
	#

������,
������+
	
#

��
��
�,

�
��
��
�+

	
#

���
��,
�

�
����+
	

#

����
���
��������
��)���

�

���-��
.

���-��.

�����-��.

����-��
.

���-��.

���-��.

���-��.

���-��.

����-��.

����-��
.

�
���
�,��
��&���
���-��.

��,��

�������	�
��	��	�
�-�������,
������+
	#������/!������� ������
	�
�-������,
������+
	#�������/!�������� ������
	�
�-���
��,
������+
	#�������/!�������� ������
	�

&
��+%����� ���� ��������

��
�
��
,

�
�
��
��
+

	
#

����-��.

���-��.

����-��.

��
�� -
� �
.

����-��.

����-��.

��&����������� �
���
��
���%������ ������
	�

��&����������� �
���
��
�����
���	
���+��

�������
���%�%����
�#�� ���
���
�����
���

���%�%��
���
��!	��	�������
+��%��������������
�#�� �
��


�������	���
��	�������	������

��
�� -
� �
.

������� ��������
�����	�
)�-�.��

������� ���
��!��	,	���+���

�����
���	
���+��	#
���
���� ��
��

����- �".
�����-��.

�����-��.

�
��
�- �
�.

����-��.

�������
���%�%��
����&�
����&
�
 �&�����,���&
�������	���
��	�������	������

���-�
�.

���-��.

���-��.

�������0123��4556��1478
+1009:485;����������

�3882��0�

�10<8=2��0�

�3882��4258

�1>/4?@��>28

�874640?6

�!
��
!
��
"�
�'
��
'�
)�
�&


�����


�	����	�%�
������
��
�

�����%&���
�������&���
	�����
����

��������"

��������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����

��	���
������
�����

&%��	��
��
�����
��

��������"

��.������-�.� �������
�



%�

�

�

�

�

  

)

)

& &



��
��
�-�
�.

��
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

�
��
�-�
�.

����-��. ����-��.

��
��
�-�
�.

A�
��
��
��
 
�+
%
��
�
��
 
B

��
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

�
��
�-�
�.


 


� "

����-����!�.

��
��-
�)
��
!
.

����-����!.

��-��. ����-��. ����-��.

��
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
�.

��
��-
��
.

����-���. ����-��. ����-�.

�

����



����



����

��
��-
��
�)
!�
.

����-��.

C C

# #

�)
��-
�
.

��
��-
��
.

�)
��-
�
.

�

���-��. �"��-��. ����-��. ���-��.

�

����

&
��
��
�
�
#�
D�
��
	
�

�

��
��
��

	
#�

������� �D���	����� 

���#�+��	�

�

	 	

���

+
+

� �

���


����


� �

� �

��
�-�
�.

�"
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

��
�-�
".

��
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

��
.

�
��-
�"
.


��-
�
.

��
�-�
".

� �

��

"��

"��

#�� #��

�$
�$

C�� C��

�$
�$

C�" C�"

�$
�$

���

�$ �$

"��

�$ �$

C

�
���

�������0123��4556��1478
+1009:485;����������

�3882��0�

�10<8=2��0�

�3882��4258

�1>/4?@��>28

�874640?6

"!
��
!
��
"�
��
'�
�'
��
�

&


����

��������
��-������
�����

�����%&���
�������&���
	����

�"������"

��������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����������

��	�-�+
	#���
��
���
�����

&%��	��
��
�����
��

	0EF14@32�G�����C068E3�
��4??822��
�
��
55�14@326�1868178;�

�"������"

��!�.�����-�.� ��������������
�


���&+�����D�	�&������� ��
��#�,��������

��!.�����-�. �����-��������&�



&��
��	�%�������
���� 


������&�&+�
���%���������
	%�+�
����
����������� ���.���	�
�������	�������&�������	%��&���
�������!��
���������
�����.���	�
����	������&�&+�
��
���	���������%�
����

�����+��	#�� ������$%�����	%�+�����

�����+%����	%�+

�����+��	#�� 

����$%����

����
+��&��
��	%�+

��������+��	#�� �&�	����
������������	#
������	%�+���
� �������
+���H��	%�+

�	
��

���
���
�

�������	#

���	���������%�
����

�
���������%�
����
-�&����.�
����
��

&�&+�
���%������	�
&��� 
��� �
�����
�������+���
������
���������&
���	

	�
&��� ���� 

���������
�	������	������

�� 
�C%��
+����������
���� ����������
��

 
�����
���	���
�

���	���������%�
����

 
������
	#���
���� ��!��.���
� �
A���������
�
���
����
��������������"�����&B

��������
����"��%�	%�������&

���
������,%����
�����
�
��

�������	#

�������
	#

�
����
�
���
���� ��������
���� 

���	������&�&+�
��

�����+��	#�� �
��������

��
���������������
�+
��

�	
����

� �

�

�

  

)

)

& &




 


� "

�

����



����



����

�������������

�������������

C C

# #

�

�

����

��	� ��

��%

�

	 	

���

+ +

� �

���

� �

� �

� �

��

"��

"��

#�� #��

C�� C��

C�" C�"

��� "��

���!���

�!.�!���-�. �!.�!���-�.

�!�.�!���-�. �!�.�!���-�.

��%

��%

�
��-
�"
.

�
��-
�"
.

�
��-
�"
.

�
��-
�"
.

�
��-
��
��
!�
.

��

��

��

��

���!���

�"
��-
��
.

�
��-
��
��
!�
.

�
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

����-��. ���-��. ���-����!�. ���-��. ����-��.

�������0123��4556��1478
+1009:485;����������

�3882��0�

�10<8=2��0�

�3882��4258

�1>/4?@��>28

�874640?6

"!
��
!
��
"�
��
'�
�'
�
�

&


���

�������
�

�����%&���
�������&���
	����

�"������"

��������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����������

��	�-�+
	#���
��
���
�����

&%��	��
��
�����
��

	0EF14@32�G�����C068E3�
��4??822��
�
��
55�14@326�1868178;�

�"������"

����!.�����-�.� �����	%�+�

����!.�����-�. �,��-��������
��

����!.�����-�.� �,��-��������
	#

��!�.�����-�.� ��-����


���&+�����D�	�&�������
�����
���&+�,�� ��������	#��������	�����+�
��A�����$%����������� ������%�
����B�

�� ������%�
�����A&����-B�������� ��
������ �� �%��,�
����������������� �&�&+�
�	�I�+�
	#
���
�%+� ���
�%+��������������	����� ��#,�� ��



� �

�


 


� "

��
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
.

����-����!�. ����-����!.

����-���. ����-��.

�)
��-
�"
.

"��-��.

����-����!�.

��
��-
�"
.

��
��-
��
.

��
�-�
��
��
!
.

��
��-
��
.

��
��-
��
��
�!
�.

�������
D

�����

��
	����	�

��)

���	��
��"

���	��
�������	���

���

��#���J�

�
�
#�
��
J

�
�
#�
��
J�

����������	��
���

��
�-�
��
�!
�.

������� 

������������������
�
���

����
�
���

��������	��
�

�
�
#�
��
J

�
�
#�
��
J�

��
��
��
�

������� 

��#���J�

�
��-
��
.

"
��-
��
.



����

�

����

��
�-�
".

�

�

"
"

"
�

�

��
��
��
�
 

��
��
��
�
 

���������������
��

���!�. ���-��. ���-��. "��-�)��!.

������� 

��-����!�. "��-��. ����-����!�.

����-��.

"��-����!. ����-�)��!�.

���	��
���

	������
�

��
��-
��
.

)�
�-�
".

��
�-�
".

�
�-�
�.

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
)�
�!
�.

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
�.

)��-��. ���-��. ���-���!�. ���-��. ���-����!�. ���-��. ���-��. ���-��. ���-����!�.

��
�-�
��
�!
�.

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
".

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
".

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
��
�!
�.

��
�-�
�.

��
�-�
�.

��-�".

�
�-�
�.

	 	

��
��-
��
��
�!
�.

���

+
+

�
�

���

�$
�$

�

����

�

����

� �

�������0123��4556��1478
+1009:485;����������

�3882��0�

�10<8=2��0�

�3882��4258

�1>/4?@��>28

�874640?6

"!
��
!
��
"�
��
'�
�'
��
�

&


����

����	��
�������

�����%&���
�������&���
	����

�"������"

��������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����������

��	�-�+
	#���
��
���
�����

&%��	��
��
�����
��

	0EF14@32�G�����C068E3�
��4??822��
�
��
55�14@326�1868178;�

�"������"

��!�.�����-�.� ��������������
�


���&+�����D�	�&�������

��
��#�,��������
� ������������������
��� 
� ����	&%������������������ ������� ���-���������
��� ���$%����
" ������� ����������	&%��
����������������
�����������
�����

���
�
��������
��
�I������������,�������� �	&%��
��� ��%����
	�� 
��������&����������� ��
����$%��
��������	#�����
����������������
������
�	���
��� 



���
���&��
���%��
	�������������������A��	�%��� �&��	���
���%�
&��
��������� ��&�	�
��	
���$%��&������
���������
������
���� �
	��%&������
����&�����	�B���
���+���
�������%�����

����������
���
�%&��%&������������%�����

���&���	
������	��+%����� �A&�+B���������������������������&
����
���,�
������������	�%����������C�	���	����

��������,��	
��	�������C������A	CB��������
����!
�����

���	�������C���������	&%�+
	#%�����+������������&�	�������C��������
&
����,!��������������	�������C������
��	&%�+
	#%��&
��&%&���
��
	�� �

"����������	�������C������
���������	����������+��	#�
���������

 ����
������
����������

�����������
�����-��.

����������
���-��.

����	������
�����-�".

#���$

#����

#����

#����
#���$

��!����������

���-����!�.���-��.���-��.���-��.���-����!�.���-��.���-���!�.���-��.)��-��.

��	#���

��!���#�	� ��

�����������
�����-��.

����������
���-��.



����

����	������
�����-�".

�

����

#���$
#����
#����
#����
#���$
#����

#�#��!������

#����

#����

#����
#���$

#����

���-�)��!�. ��-��. ���-�". )��-�". ���-���)!�.

��
�-�
�.

"�
�-�
�.

�
�-�
�.

���-��. ���-��. ���-�)��!�. ���-��. ���-��.

#����
��!����������

��	#���

��!���#�	� ��

��!���#�	� ��

�����������
�����-��.

����������
���-��.

�

����

#����
#���$

#����

#����

#����
#���$

��!���#�	� ��

�����������
�����-��.

&�HH
����
�����-��.

����������
���-��.



����

����
�"��-��.

����	������
�����-�".

�

����

�������0123��4556��1478
+1009:485;����������

�3882��0�

�10<8=2��0�

�3882��4258

�1>/4?@��>28

�874640?6

"!
��
!
��
"�
��
'�
�'
��
�

&


���

��������
����
�����

�����%&���
�������&���
	����

�"������"

��������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����������

��	�-�+
	#���
��
���
�����

&%��	��
��
�����
��

	0EF14@32�G�����C068E3�
��4??822��
�
��
55�14@326�1868178;�

�"������"

��!�.�����-�.� �0K23

��!�.�����-�. �862

� ���-����	��������	����-��

��!�.�����-�.� �0123

��!�.�����-�.� �>62


���&+�����D�	�&�������
+��	#�� &��%�
��	�
,�+��	#�&
����,������
	#�+����������������&���
�

	����I�+
����������� ���������	������&
� 
������������������%�
	&%�� �.�������
	��	&%���
�������� ��� �
,
	&%� �.����	�����&�����
	��	&%���
������ �
,
	&%�� �.���%����������
	��	&%���
�������� ��� �
,
	��	������
�� ��%����	��	������
���������������	�&������������%	�%�
�

��
��� �
&��
��	���� �� ������������������&��
��	���� ������	�����%�%��	��
�������!�.

�����%������
������,�����+��	#�� I�	����'�+�
	#
&��
���
����� 	��	�
�����
��������%���&��
���
���I�+
����������� �'�&��
����
�

���� ������������".���%�����
�����	����'��%���




�����������
�����-��.

&�HH
����
�����-��.

 &

����������
���-��.



����

����
�"��-��.

����	������
�����-�".

C #� �#��C��C�"

�����������
�����-��.

&�HH
����
�����-��.

)

����������
���-��.

�

����

����
�"��-��.

����	������
�����-�".

�

��

"����� "��

�)��-�". ���-�".

����-��.

���-��. ���-���!. ���-���!. ���-����!. ���-����!. ���-��.

���!��� �������������

�!�.�!���-�. �!�.�!���-�.

�������0123��4556��1478
+1009:485;����������

�3882��0�

�10<8=2��0�

�3882��4258

�1>/4?@��>28

�874640?6

"!
��
!
��
"�
��
'�
�'
��
�

&


����

+%����� ���	�����

�����%&���
�������&���
	����

�"������"

��������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����������

��	�-�+
	#���
��
���
�����

&%��	��
��
�����
��

	0EF14@32�G�����C068E3�
��4??822��
�
��
55�14@326�1868178;�

�"������"

��!�.�����-�.� ���-������+%����� ���	����

��!�.�����-�. ���-������+%����� ���	����



�����������
�����-��.

�����������
�����-��.

&�HH
����
�����-��.

&�HH
����
�����-��.

� "

����	������
�����-�".

����	������
�����-�".

���� ���

�!.�!���-�. �!.�!���-�.

�������������

��
�-�
".

��
�-�
".

��
�-�
�.

�������0123��4556��1478
+1009:485;����������

�3882��0�

�10<8=2��0�

�3882��4258

�1>/4?@��>28

�874640?6

"!
��
!
��
"�
��
'�
�'
��
�

&


����

+%����� ���	�����

�����%&���
�������&���
	����

�"������"

��������

�����
�������
&%#���
 �����������

��	�-�+
	#���
��
���
�����

&%��	��
��
�����
��

	0EF14@32�G�����C068E3�
��4??822��
�
��
55�14@326�1868178;�

�"������"

��!.�����-�.� �
�����	�����-�����	��(�+��	#�









�������	
��
�

����� ���������� ����	�
�����
���� ����������������

�	��� �����������������

�	������� �����
���������������������� �!�
�		�������

�	���������
�	� ��"��#����

��� $�����
����������%�&
���������
�
�
�'����'
��(���������)(�������(�����
����'�)��*
���*�����������������(���(���'������(��*
��	��+�
)���*��)�����'��	����$,����	������-�.��	�$�)���/��))
���)/�+��
����	��(���
����/�*���!�
��'��)����(�����'�����������0(��������)(��+��'�����(��������
��/�	��)
���	�$,���))
���)/�+��
����
$����(����!��		��������������	���������
������������������������������(��'����!��+�
��'���������!����*��
��	����)����/�!��(��(��������1
��	��+���	����	�2�)���$����3�	����)�����
�'����'
��(���������)(�������(�����
����'�)��*
���*�����������������(���(���'������(��*
��	��+�
)���*��)�����'��	����$,����	������-�.��	�$�)���/��))
���)/�+��
����	��(���
����/�*���!�
��'��)����(�����'����������
�
1
��	��+�������
)�����0/��4�� ��1�
3))
���)/�0/��4� � $,��
����!�*�������4�� � �"�"����$�5������*���"�#6�
����!�*���7��'��������4� � ��
����!�*���-��+(�4� � ""8,�9�
3))
���)/�����������4� � ��������	: ����������	�;����
$
��/������<��	4�� �  ��
��=��
��$��������4� � ��������$�5����>�#���?6�
$�������������������4� � #,-�
��$����@����5������)�����A��6� �
�
����'����!��+���+��'���	��+�����'�'�����������



� ��+����

�
�
�����(����������������



 

 

DATE:  August 12, 2016 
TO:       Village President Fred Winchowky and Plan Commission Members 
FROM:  Bruce Kaniewski, Village Planner/Zoning Administrator  
RE:          DAA Smokehouse/Request for Conditional Use 
 
Tina Marie O’Bryan of DAA Smokehouse is requesting a Conditional Use for outdoor seating.  The 
restaurant, located within Unit D/E of the Chelsea Lynn Shopping Center along Bay View Road is 
preparing for their grand opening.  Under the B-2, General Business Zoning District of the site, outdoor 
display and sales require a Conditional use.  
 
Within the center portion of the shopping center there is a substantial area between the building and 
the parking lot.   The proposed seating area for 30 people is next to a landscaped area eight feet from 
the building and about 10 feet from the edge of the parking lot.   The proposed plan shows one opening 
with a fence system similar to the recent approval for Pam/s Fine Wines. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Pending the outcome of the public hearing, and pursuant to comments of the public and the 
information presented by the applicant, if the Commission feels the public health, safety and welfare 
will be protected (the basic standard for granting of a conditional use), then I encourage the Commission 
to recommend approval of the conditional use to the Village Board.   The proposal supports a healthy 
business area and the location of the outdoor seating does not impede access to other businesses. 
 
Suggested findings in support of the proposal and terms of approval are listed below. 
  
Findings: 
 

1. The proposed use is in accordance with the purpose and intent of the B-2, General Business 
Zoning District. 

2. The proposed use is found not to be hazardous, harmful, offensive or adverse to the 
environment or value of the shopping and the Village of Mukwonago. 

3. The proposed use does not change the character of the neighborhood. 
 
Terms of Approval: 
 

1. The outdoor seating area shall be provided and operated in strict conformance with the 
petitioner’s public hearing presentation, the information submitted on the Request for a 
Conditional Use Application and the submitted plans. 

2. The Conditional Use is granted solely to Tina Marie O’Bryan, and is not transferrable.  Nothing in 
this conditional use shall prohibit another owner to petition the Village for a new conditional 
use should a change in ownership occur.   



 

 

3. Use of the outdoor seating and serving of alcohol via the Conditional Use is conditioned upon 
applicant maintaining a valid liquor license from the Village of Mukwonago for outdoor service. 

4. Use of the outdoor seating and serving of alcohol via the Conditional Use is limited between 
April 1st and November 15th of each year. 

5. The Conditional Use shall be renewed by the Plan Commission and the Village Board within one 
(1) year of approval, with a second one (1) year renewal, and then subsequent five (5) year 
renewals.  Renewal of the conditional use shall be granted if the use of the property is found to 
be operation in accordance with terms of approval of this conditional use.   Findings of 
nonconformance shall be grounds for termination of this conditional use. 

6. Use of the outdoor seating and serving of alcohol via the Conditional Use shall at all times 
conform to building codes, fire safety codes and health codes.  The use shall be subject to 
periodic inspections by the Mukwonago Police Department and Village of Mukwonago Building 
Inspection and/or Zoning Administrator staff. 

7. The use of outdoor seating and serving of alcohol shall at all times conform to federal, state and 
local laws. 
 

I appreciate the opportunity to assist the Village with this matter.   Should any questions arise, please 
feel free to contact me. 
 
Cc:  John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
  Steve Braatz, Village Clerk (via email) 
  Bob Harley, Supervisor of Inspections (via email)  
   Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 
  Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
               Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
               Tina Marie O’Bryan, Applicant (via email) 
 

 























 

 

1 

 

DATE:  August 12, 2016 
TO:       Village President Fred Winchowky and Plan Commission Members 
FROM:  Bruce Kaniewski, Village Planner/Zoning Administrator  
RE:          Eddie Cash/Request for Conditional Use 
 
Eddie Cash of the Eddie Cash Show, Inc. is requesting a conditional use for an indoor music theater.  
Under the B-2, General Business Zoning District of the site, an indoor theater requires a Conditional use.   
 
The use is proposed to be located at 575 Bay View Road, on the south side of Bay View Road west of 
Main Street (CTH ES).   This is the site with parallel multi-tenant buildings perpendicular to Bay View 
with the tenant doors facing inward.   Although the application states the use will be in Unit #7, I 
recently learned from a representative of the applicant the use is proposed to occupy Unit #107 within 
the west building. 
 
According to the application, a show of 50’s and 60’s music would be provided two to three times during 
weekends geared toward senior citizens with seating “for around 50 people.” The music will be 
prerecorded with Mr. Cash providing the vocals.   Soft drinks and snacks will be available for purchase.  
While Village Inspection staff has requested a floor plan, as of writing this report, a plan has not been 
provided for review. 
 
Recommendation 
 
I recommend the Plan Commission conduct the public hearing, but withhold any recommendation at 
this time.   The reason a theater requires conditional use approval is so the public health, safety and 
welfare is ensured, in this case principally that there is proper egress.   Without a floor plan and other 
information that goes along with a floor plan, such as showing proper restroom facilities and where the 
drinks and snacks will be served and disposed of, I would be derelict in my responsibility as the zoning 
administrator to allow the proposal to proceed toward approval.   
 
I appreciate the opportunity to assist the Village with this matter.   Should any questions arise, please 
feel free to contact me. 
 
Cc:  John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
  Steve Braatz, Village Clerk (via email) 
  Bob Harley, Supervisor of Inspections (via email)  
   Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 
  Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
               Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
               Eddie Cash, Applicant (via email) 

















 

 

1 

 

August 12, 2016 

Fred Winchowky, Village President 
Village of Mukwonago 
440 River Crest Court 
Mukwonago, WI 53149 
 
Re:  Conditional Use Reviews/Mukwonago Union High School 
 
Dear President Winchowky and Members of the Plan Commission: 
 
Curt Wielbelhaus, Supervisor of Building and Grounds for the Mukwonago Area School District have 
submitted applications for two separate requests on the site of the high school.  Both applications will 
be reviewed during the same public hearing.  The two applications include the following: 
 

1. A new 36 foot by 56 foot storage structure to replace a 14 foot by 22 foot track storage shed at 
the southwest corner of the track surrounding the athletic field.    

2. The comprehensive plan for additions and interior alterations to the high school building and 
exterior site improvements supported by the recent referendum approval. 

 
The entire high school site has an assigned zoning of P-1, Public and Semipublic District.  In P-1, schools 
require conditional use approval provided the site area is more than two acres and principal structures 
and uses are greater than 50 feet from any lot line. 
 
Storage Structure 
 
The Mukwonago Braves (youth football) will be funding the majority of the project and will be the 
primary occupant.   The gray steel building with brick wainscoting is similar to the design of other 
accessory buildings surrounding the athletic field.  The P-1 district does not have any minimum standard 
for building design, although building design is subject to review by the Plan Commission and Village 
Board via the conditional use review.   
 
The district has submitted plans that meet standards for building egress and exterior lighting.  I 
recommend approval of the storage structure subject to the following conditions. 
 

1. Approval of the plans for the 36 foot by 56 foot storage structure shall be subject to the package 
of documents and plans submitted by the applicant to the Village of Mukwonago. 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be issued. 
 
 
 



 

 

2 

 

High School Additions, Interior Alterations and Exterior Site Improvements 
 
There are multiple aspects to the comprehensive plan that will enhance the educational value of the 
high school along with use of the facility by the general public.   The applicant and their representatives 
are prepared to present the proposal in detail during the public hearing.   The following are the major 
points Village Department Heads discussed with the applicant during plan review to be presented during 
the public hearing for consideration by the Plan Commission: 
 

1. Adequacy of External site ingress/egress (approval from Waukesha County for changes to CTH 
NN access points is required). 

2. Adequacy of internal site turning movements, especially for fire apparatus and school buses. 
3. Adequacy of internal site traffic flow, for both vehicles and pedestrians. 
4. The exterior architectural design of the additions. 

 
It is the intent of the school district to commence construction this fall on phase 1 of the project.  Phase 
1 involves realigning the bus drop-off/pick-up area east and southeast of the school.   With the overall 
site improvements and additions, school bus traffic and staff parking will be solely on the east side.  
Parent drop-off/pick-up will be at the middle of the school front, and student parking will be separated 
from the remainder of the activity on the west end of the site. 
 
Therefore, I recommend the Plan Commission forward a recommendation to the Village Board to 
approve the conditional use for phase 1.  Approvals for the remainder of the project will occur in 
subsequent months when the architectural design for all additions is finalized. 
 
For phase 1 approval, I suggest the following conditions: 
 

1. Approval shall be subject to the submitted plans for the drive aisles and parking lot 
improvements east and southeast of the school building as shown on submitted plans.  The 
submitted plans may be altered for proper turning movements and proper dimensioning of 
drive, parking and landscape island design for the approval of the Fire Chief, Village Engineer 
and Zoning Administrator. 

2. Approval shall be subject to approval of a Storm Water Maintenance Agreement by the Village 
Board. 

3. Approval shall be subject to submittal by applicant and approval of the Village Engineer of a soil 
erosion plan. 

4. Prior to the start of phase 1 construction, applicant shall receive from the Village a soil 
disturbance permit and an erosion control permit. 

 
I appreciate the opportunity to assist the Village of Mukwonago with the review of this proposal.  Should 
any questions arise, please feel free to contact me. 
  



 

 

3 

 

Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Bruce S. Kaniewski, AICP 
Village Planner 
 
Cc:    John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
 Steve Braatz, Jr., Village Clerk (via email) 
 Bob Harley, Supervisor of Inspections (via email) 
 Kurt Peot, P.E., Village Engineer (via email) 
 Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
 Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
 Dave Brown, Utilities Superintendent (via email) 
 Ron Bittner, Public Works Director (via email) 
 Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 
 Curt Wielbelhaus, Applicant (via email) 
         Chris Eger, Architect (via email) 
 
 
 



SUMMARY
Project: Mukwonago Area School District

Mukwonago High School Additions and Renovation

Project No: 3207 – Plan Commission Submittal

Date: Thursday | July 7, 2016

Summary and Plan of Operation: 

This site review request is due to the expanding needs of Mukwonago High School. In order to compete with neighboring 
districts as well as to provide the necessary space for expanding enrollment and student enrichment, Mukwonago High School 
will need to expand. The expansion and renovation will allow the school to broaden programs and bring in outside tournaments 
and possibly professional performing arts groups. 

The proposed alterations to Mukwonago High School include various interior renovations to the existing Cafeteria, Library, 
offices, upper classrooms and Technical Education spaces. The additions include an approximately 42,000 square foot three 
station gymnasium with supporting spaces and entrance spaces added to the NorthWest corner of the existing building. The 
second large addition includes a 47,000 square foot auditorium, with support and music classrooms attached to the NorthEast 
corner of the existing building.  

Typical hours of operation for the High School are between 6:00 am and 5:00 pm. The roughly 200 staff members arrive at 
school between the hours of 6:00 am and 7:00 am. School begins at 7:30, with buses and parents dropping off roughly 1400 
students between 7:00 am and 7:20 am. School ends at 2:45 and buses pick up between 2:45 and 2:55. 

There are currently 850 parking stalls on the existing property. The renovation and site work would add roughly 100 additional 
spaces. Currently the parking lot is close to capacity on school days and is at capacity during Friday night football games. 
Football games typically begin at 7:00 pm and end between 9:30 and 10:00 pm.

There will be landscaping added per ordinances and screening as necessary. The existing tennis court will be demolished and 
a new located farther to the West of the property on the West side of the stadium. There will be a stormwater pond added to the 
lower South side of the site to handle added impervious parking lots and buildings. 

BRAY ASSOCIATES ARCHITECTS, INC.

Chris Eger
Project Team Leader
  



Village of Mukwonago 
440 River Crest Court, P.O. Box 206 
Mukwonago, WI  53149 
Phone:  (262) 363-6420 
Fax:  (262) 363-6425 
www.villageofmukwonago.com 

VILLAGE OF MUKWONAGO 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

Application Fee:  $450

Date Submitted:  ____________________

CONTACTS 

Zoning Department 
Contact:  Joe Hankovich 
Phone:  (262) 363-6419 
Fax:  (262) 363-6425 
Email:  jhankovich@villageofmukwonago.com 

Planning Department 
Contact:  Bruce Kaniewski 
Phone:  (414) 339-4105 
Fax:  (262) 363-6425 
Email:  planner@villageofmukwonago.com 

GUIDELINES 

The undersigned petition is to consider a request, as stated herein, for the specified parcel(s) of land and will be 
reviewed by the Plan Commission and Village Board of the Village of Mukwonago. 
 
Conditional use applications require a public hearing.  To ensure the public hearing will be properly advertised, 
the application must be submitted at least 30 days prior to the meeting in which the Plan Commission will hold 
the public hearing.  The Plan Commission meets on the second Tuesday of each month at 6:30 p.m. 
 
Materials listed on page 3 must be provided to the Village of Mukwonago in accordance with Village Municipal 
Code Chapter 100-354 and other pertinent sections of Village ordinances, WI Stats. 62.23, and as necessary to 
permit review that is consistent with proper planning practice.  The Village will strive to accommodate 
reasonable requests for informal preliminary staff review, however the Village shall not place any items on the 
agenda for Plan Commission consideration until such time as the application is complete in accordance with all 
requirements specified on this and other attached application forms.   
 
Mail completed applications to: Village Planner 
    ATTN:  Conditional Use Permits 
    PO Box 206 
    Mukwonago, WI  53149 
Deliver to:   Village Clerk’s Office 
    440 River Crest Court 
Email to:   planner@villageofmukwonago.com  
 
Complete, accurate and specific information must be entered. Please Print. 

APPLICANT (Full Legal Name) 
 
Name:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  ______ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  ____________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

53149

Curt Wiebelhaus - Supervisor of Buildings & Grounds

Mukwonago Area School District

385 County Hwy NN

262-363-6300 Ext. 24300

cwiebecu@masd.k12.wi.us.com

Mukwonago WI 53149

July 7, 2016



Conditional Use Permit Application (Rev 01/16) 

APPLICANT IS REPRESENTED BY (Full Legal Name) 
 
Name:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  ______ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  ____________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ARCHITECT 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
REGISTERED SURVEYOR 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
CONTRACTOR 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 

414-226-0200

829 S. 1st Street

Chris Eger

ceger@brayarch.com

Milwaukee WI 53204

Bray Architects

Clint Selle (Chris Eger)

Bray Architects

829 S. 1st Street

414-226-0200

ceger@brayarch.com

Milwaukee WI 53204

Michael J. Froehlich, PE

Kapur & Associates

7711 N Port Washington Road

414-351-6668

mfroehlich@kapur-assoc.com

Milwaukee WI 53217

John P. Konopacki, PLS

Pinnacle Engineering Group

15850 W. Bluemound Rd, Suite 210
262-754-8888

john.konopacki@pinnacle-engr.com

Brookfield WI 53005

Joseph Schmidt, PE

CG Schmidt, Inc.

11777 W. Lake Park Drive
414-577-1147

joe.schmidt@cgschmidt.com

Milwaukee WI 53224



Conditional Use Permit Application (Rev 01/16) 

PROPERTY AND PROJECT INFORMATION 

Present Zoning:  _____________________ Tax Key No(s).:  ____________________________________________________________ 
 
Address/Location:  ________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
A. I/We request a conditional use permit for: 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
B. The property is presently used as: 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
C. Name of Architect, Professional Engineer, or Contractor:  _____________________________________________________________ 

D. Project Timetable:      Start Date: _________________  Completion Date: _________________ 
E. All of the Proposed Use(s) of the property will be: 

Principal Use_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Secondary Use________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Accessory Use________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
F. I/We represent that I/we have a vested interest in this property in the following manner: 

� Owner 

� Leasehold.  Length of Lease:  __________________________ 

� Contractual.  Nature of contract:  ______________________________________________________________________________ 

� Other.  Please explain 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 

P-1 Public & Semi-
Public District

MUKV 1960-998-001

605 School Drive

Additions and renovations to Mukwonago High School. The High School is currently zoned as P-1 and
allows public school as a conditional use provided that the site area is more than two acres and that all
principal structures and uses are greater than 50 feet from any lot line.

Mukwonago High School

Bray Architects, Kapur & Associates, & CG Schmidt

August 23, 2016 Phase 1 - November 2016/
All Phases - July 2018

Mukwonago High School

X



Conditional Use Permit Application (Rev 01/16) 

PROCEDURAL CHECKLIST FOR CONDITIONAL USE REVIEW AND APPROVAL 

This form is designed to be a guide for submitting a complete application for a conditional use. 
 
Application Submittal Packet Requirements for Village and Applicant Use (Check off List) 
 

Application: 
� Completed application form including the procedural checklist and justification of the proposed conditional use. 
� Application fee:  $450 
� Agreement for Reimbursable Services (separate application) 

 
Required site drawings: 
� Survey of the property 
� Landscape plan 
� Parking plan (including parking computations) 
� Lighting plan (including photo metrics) 
� Proposed location and connection to the sanitary sewer and water mains 
� Drainage plan (if applicable) 
� All building elevations 
� Floor plans 

 
Other Documents: 
� Plan of operation/proposal 
� Overview of the adjoining lots (including list of parcel identification numbers and names and mailing addresses of the 

current owners for all properties within 300 feet of the subject property) 
� Electronic Submittals are required.  Email (or CD ROM) with all plans and submittal materials in Adobe PDF to 

planner@villageofmukwonago.com. 
� Any additional information as determined by Village staff 

 
JUSTIFICATION OF THE PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE 

The Plan Commission and Village Board of the Village of Mukwonago will base their decisions on the category standards listed 
below.  It is in the best interest of the applicant to base their presentation on the same applicable set of standards when 
presenting their petition.  Applicant:  Please fill out ALL of the questions.  Use additional sheets of paper if needed. 

 
A. How is the proposed conditional use (the use in general, independent of its location) in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the Village of Mukwonago Comprehensive Plan, the Zoning Ordinance, and any other 
plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the Village? 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
B. How is the proposed conditional use, in its specific location, in harmony with the purposed, goals, objectives, policies and 

standards of the Village of Mukwonago Comprehensive Plan, the Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or 
ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the Village? 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

X
X
X

x

x

x
x

x

There will be no changes to the current use which is allowed under the municipal zoning code as a
conditional use. The semi public and public aspect of a gymnasium and auditorium aligns with the MCP.

There will be no changes to the use as it currently stands, however the additions will be public spaces that
will be used not only by the High School, but by the community. These spaces will bring a new design to
the High School as seen from HWY NN and will be more public aligning closer to the zoning use of public
and semi-public than the current building has done.



Conditional Use Permit Application (Rev 01/16) 

C. Does the proposed conditional use, in its proposed location and as depicted on the required site plan (see Section 100-354 
(a), (b), and (c)), result in any substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the neighborhood, 
environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters 
affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a 
result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan, or any other plan, program, 
map ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the Village or other governmental agency having 
jurisdiction to guide development? 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
D. How does the proposed conditional use maintain the desired consistency of land uses, land use intensities, and land use 

impacts as related to the environs of the subject property? 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
E. Is the proposed conditional use located in an area that will be adequately served by and will not impose an undue burden on, 

any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by public agencies serving the subject property? 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
F. Do the potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use outweigh all potential adverse impacts of the proposed 

conditional use (as identified in Sections 100-354 (e)(1) and (2)), after taking into consideration the Applicant's proposal and 
any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts? 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The proposed use again does not deviate from how the property has already been used. Parking and
exiting from the school property will be simplified and better distributed. Buses and employee parking will
be in the East lot coming and going through the East entrance. Parents (drop off/ event parking) and
visitors will be using the central entrance and parking in front of the buildings. Students will be parking in
the West lot and arriving and leaving from the West entrance.

The additions will be completed over what is currently asphalt parking. Any existing pervious areas of grass
or landscape that will be affected will involve stormwater management and will be managed onsite. The
residential neighborhoods to the North, East and West will benefit from the improved property.

The use is located closer to HWY NN which will provide all utilities to the site. The neighborhood to the
North is currently using the High School property for stormwater. This will be maintained if necessary.

The improvement to the function of the property, the design of the building and the use of the new spaces
far outway any adverse affects to the site impacts.



Conditional Use Permit Application (Rev 01/16) 

CERTIFICATION 

Applicant hereby certifies that: 

1. All of the above statements and other information submitted as part of this application are true and correct to the best of his or her 
knowledge. 

2. Affirms that no Village of Mukwonago elected or appointed official or employee has a proprietary interest in the above referenced 
property for which this applications being filed (except as stated below under “Exceptions”). 

3. None of the above referenced individuals has been promised or given any contract for consultation, planning or construction in 
relation to this project (except as stated below under “Exceptions”). 

4. Applicant has read and understands all information in this packet. 
 

Applicant further understands the policies of the Village regarding change of zonings and property development.  Conditions of the 
resolution regarding all approvals are strictly followed.  Certificates of Occupancy are not given until all conditions of approval have been 
met 

 
By the execution of this application, applicant hereby authorizes the Village of Mukwonago or its agents to enter upon the property 
during the hours of 7:00 am to 7:00 pm daily for the purpose of inspection.  Applicant grants this authorization to enter even if this land 
has been posted against trespassing pursuant to Section 943.13 WI Stats. 

(The applicant’s signature must be from a Managing Member if the business is an LLC, or from the President or Vice President if the 
business is a corporation. A signed applicant’s authorization letter may be provided in lieu of the applicant’s signature below, and a signed 
property owner’s authorization letter may be provided in lieu of the property owner’s signature[s] below. If more than one, all of the 
owners of the property must sign this Application). 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Signature - Property Owner      Signature - Applicant 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Name & Title (PRINT)      Name & Title (PRINT)  

____________________     ____________________ 
Date       Date 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Signature - Property Owner      Signature – Applicant’s Representative 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Name & Title (PRINT)      Name & Title (PRINT)  

____________________     ____________________ 
Date       Date 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 
Date Paid Receipt # Date(s) Notice Published Date Notices Mailed 

Public Hearing Date Plan Commission Date(s) Village Board Date(s) Resolution Number 

Escrow Required?     � Yes       �No 
Escrow Amount 
 
 

Plan Commission Disposition 

Village Board Disposition 

_____ ________ ___________ __________ ______
Signature Applicant’t’’s Represe

Chris Eger - Bray Architects

07.07.16

____________________________ _________________________________________________ _____________________
SiiSiiiiiSiSiiSiSiiiSiSiiiSiiSiSiSiiSiSiSSSiSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS gnggggggggggggg ature - Property Owner 

Curt Wiebelhaus - Supervisor of Buildings & Grounds

07.07.16



Village of Mukwonago 
440 River Crest Court, P.O. Box 206 
Mukwonago, WI  53149 
Phone:  (262) 363-6420 
Fax:  (262) 363-6425 
www.villageofmukwonago.com 

VILLAGE OF MUKWONAGO 
SITE PLAN, ARCHITECTURAL, AND PLANNED 

UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) APPLICATION
Application Fee:  Below

Date Submitted:  ____________________ 
 
FEES  

(Please check one) 

� Minor Site Plan (Buildings less than 600 sq. ft.):  $135.00 plus $.02 per sq. ft. 
� Site Plan and/or Architectural Review:  $250.00 plus $.02 per sq. ft. 
� Conceptual Site Plan and/or Architectural Review:  $200.00 plus $.02 per sq. ft. 
� Planned Unit Development (PUD) Review:  $185.00 plus $25.00/unit 
 
 
CONTACTS 

Zoning Department 
Contact:  Joe Hankovich 
Phone:  (262) 363-6419 
Fax:  (262) 363-6425 
Email:  jhankovich@villageofmukwonago.com 

Planning Department 
Contact:  Bruce Kaniewski 
Phone:  (414) 339-4105 
Fax:  (262) 363-6425 
Email:  planner@villageofmukwonago.com 

 
GUIDELINES 

The undersigned petition is to consider a request, as stated herein, for the specified parcel(s) of land and will be reviewed 
by the Plan Commission and Village Board of the Village of Mukwonago.  The application packet must be filed with the 
Village Clerk at least 30 days prior to the meeting of the Planning Commission at which action is desired.  The Plan 
Commission meets on the second Tuesday of each month at 6:30 p.m. 
 
Materials listed below must be provided to the Village of Mukwonago in accordance with Village Municipal Code Chapter 
100 Article IX. Section 100-601(f) and other pertinent sections of Village ordinances, and, as necessary, to permit review 
that is consistent with proper planning practice.  The Village will strive to accommodate reasonable requests for informal 
preliminary staff review, however the Village shall not place any items on the agenda for Plan Commission consideration 
until such time as the application is complete in accordance with all requirements specified on this and other attached 
application forms.   
 
Mail completed applications to: Village Planner 
    ATTN:  Site Plan/Architectural Plan/Planned Unit Development 
    PO Box 206 
    Mukwonago, WI  53149 
Deliver to:   Village Clerk’s Office 
    440 River Crest Court 
Email to:    planner@villageofmukwonago.com   
 
Complete, accurate and specific information must be entered. Please Print. 
 
APPLICANT (Full Legal Name) 
 
Name:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  ______ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  ____________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

July 7, 2016

Curt Wiebelhaus - Supervisor of Buildings & Grounds

Mukwonago Area School District

385 County Hwy NN

cwiebecu@masd.k12.wi.us.com

262-363-6300 Ext. 24300

Mukwonago WI 53149

x



 

Site Plan/Architectural/PUD Review Application (Rev 01/16) 

APPLICANT IS REPRESENTED BY (Full Legal Name) 
 
Name:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  ______ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  ____________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ARCHITECT 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
REGISTERED SURVEYOR 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
CONTRACTOR 
 
Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Company:  _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  ____ Zip:  _____ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  __________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 

Chris Eger

Bray Architects

829 S. 1st Street

414-226-0200

ceger@brayarch.com

Milwaukee WI 53204

Bray Architects

Clint Selle (Chris Eger)

414-226-0200

829 S. 1st Street Milwaukee

ceger@brayarch.com

WI 53204

53217WIMilwaukee
414-351-6668

Kapur & Associates

7711 N Port Washington Road

Michael J. Froehlich, PE

mfroehlich@kapur-assoc.com

John P. Konopacki, PLS

Pinnacle Engineering Group

15850 W. Bluemound Rd, Suite 210
262-754-8888

john.konopacki@pinnacle-engr.com

Brookfield WI 53005

Joseph Schmidt, PE

11777 W. Lake Park Drive

CG Schmidt, Inc.

joe.schmidt@cgschmidt.com

414-577-1147
Milwaukee WI 53224



 

Site Plan/Architectural/PUD Review Application (Rev 01/16) 

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Property Owner (s) (if different from applicant):  _____________________________________________________________ 

Address:  __________________________________________ City:  __________________ State:  _____ Zip:  ______ 

Daytime Phone:  ___________________________________ Fax:  ____________________________________________ 

E-Mail:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Present Zoning:  __________________ Tax Key No(s).:  _____________________________________________________ 

Location/Address:  _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Present Use:  ____________________________________ Intended Use:  ____________________________________ 

 
 
 
 

 

PROCEDURAL CHECKLIST FOR SITE PLAN/ARCHITECTURAL PLAN/PUD REVIEW AND APPROVAL 
 
Submittals for review must include and be accompanied by the following: 
 

Application: 
� Completed application form including the procedural checklist. 
� Application fee:  See page 1. 
� Agreement for Reimbursable Services (separate application). 

 
Other Documents: 
� Five(5) complete sets of Application and materials, in addition to the original, for Village of 

Mukwonago review. 
� Project Summary: Please attach a statement detailing the reasons and background for this 

request including: details of proposal, services provided, wares sold, plans and hours of 
operation, number of employees, frequency of customer visits, frequency of deliveries to site, 
description of any interior/exterior modifications or additions to be made to property, any 
outside storage (dumpsters, trucks, materials…), number of parking stalls, screening/buffer 
type, any other information available.  PLEASE EXPLAIN IN DETAIL. 

� Electronic Submittals are required.  Email (or CD ROM) with all plans and submittal materials in 
Adobe PDF to planner@villageofmukwonago.com. 

� Any additional information as determined by Village staff. 
 

� Upon receipt of a complete submittal, staff review will be conducted within ten business 
days. 

� All Site Plan, Architectural, and Planned Unit Development review requests require Plan 
Commission review and Village Board approval.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P-1 Public & Semi-
Public District

MUKV 1960-998-001
605 School Drive

Mukwonago High School Mukwonago High School

x
x
x

Delivered by owner in separate submittal

x
Delivered in separate submittal on Friday June 8, 2016

x



 

Site Plan/Architectural/PUD Review Application (Rev 01/16) 

CERTIFICATION 

Applicant hereby certifies that: 

1. All of the above statements and other information submitted as part of this application are true and correct to the best of his or her 
knowledge. 

2. Affirms that no Village of Mukwonago elected or appointed official or employee has a proprietary interest in the above referenced 
property for which this applications being filed (except as stated below under “Exceptions”). 

3. None of the above referenced individuals has been promised or given any contract for consultation, planning or construction in 
relation to this project (except as stated below under “Exceptions”). 

4. Applicant has read and understands all information in this packet. 
 

Applicant further understands the policies of the Village regarding change of zonings and property development.  Conditions of the 
resolution regarding all approvals are strictly followed.  Certificates of Occupancy are not given until all conditions of approval have been 
met 

By the execution of this application, applicant hereby authorizes the Village of Mukwonago or its agents to enter upon the property 
during the hours of 7:00 am to 7:00 pm daily for the purpose of inspection.  Applicant grants this authorization to enter even if this land 
has been posted against trespassing pursuant to Section 943.13 WI Stats. 

(The applicant’s signature must be from a Managing Member if the business is an LLC, or from the President or Vice President if the 
business is a corporation. A signed applicant’s authorization letter may be provided in lieu of the applicant’s signature below, and a signed 
property owner’s authorization letter may be provided in lieu of the property owner’s signature[s] below. If more than one, all of the 
owners of the property must sign this Application). 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Signature - Property Owner      Signature - Applicant 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Name & Title (PRINT)      Name & Title (PRINT)  

____________________     ____________________ 
Date       Date 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Signature - Property Owner      Signature – Applicant’s Representative 

______________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Name & Title (PRINT)      Name & Title (PRINT)  

____________________     ____________________ 
Date       Date 

 
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

Date Paid Receipt # 

Plan Commission Date(s) Village Board Date(s) 

Escrow Required?     � Yes       �No 
Escrow Amount 
 
 

Plan Commission Disposition 

Village Board Disposition 

_______________________ ____________________________________ ___________________________________________________________
Siiiiiiiiigngggngnggngnnggggngngggngggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggg ature - Prrrrrrrrrrrooooooopooooooooooooooo erty Owner 

Curt Wiebelhaus - Supervisor of Buildings & Grounds

07.07.16
Date

___________________________ ________ ______
Si t A li t’’’ R

Chris Eger - Bray Architects

07.07.16





















Photometrics indicate 80 ft
spread at 15ft elevation

Notes:
-Provide color chart for color
approval.
-Incorporate notes on previous
submittal



Corner trim does
not extend over
block









Provide stone sill cap
Flashing to be blue color

Provide engineer review
of anchor spacing/method
of brick ledge

Hot dipped galvanized
brick ledge

Block bearing
elevation to match
top of slab
elevation



 
 

 

July 31, 2016 
 
 
Village of Mukwonago 
Attn: Bruce Kaniewski 
625 Rochester Street 
Mukwonago, WI 53149 
 
RE: Plan of Operation 
 
Dear Mr. Kaniewski: 
 
The following is a Plan of Operation as requested for the proposed storage building at the south end of the track 
located at the Mukwonago High School. This new 36’x56’ storage structure would replace the existing 14’x22’ track 
storage shed.  The north 16’ x 36’ section of the building would be used to store track equipment such as hurdles, 
high jump pits, standards, etc.  This portion of the building would be accessed through an overhead door and a 3’0” x 
7’0” service door.  There will be a plywood partition that separates the Braves Youth Football space.  The Braves 
storage space will include shelves for storing football pads, uniforms and equipment for the youth program.  They will 
have one overhead door and (2) 3’0” x 7’0” service doors to help facilitate the flow of equipment/pad check-out and 
return each year. 
 
The Braves will be funding the majority of this project as they primarily play their football games at the High School 
and would like to have a more convenient storage area.  There will be no fuel or vehicles to be stored in this area.   
 
 
Thank you 
 
Sincerely, 
 
MUKWONAGO AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 
 
Curt Wiebelhaus 
Supervisor of Building and Grounds 
 







 

 

1 

 

DATE:  August 12, 2016 
TO:       Village President Fred Winchowky and Plan Commission Members 
FROM:  Bruce Kaniewski, Village Planner/Zoning Administrator  
RE:          Concept Review/Dodd Property 
 
Robert Chandler requests a concept review of a proposal to annex and develop the Dodd Property 
currently in the Town of Vernon.   The 8.1 acre site has 969 feet of frontage along CTH ES east of 
Edgewood Avenue.   The property has approximately 140 feet of continuousness with neighboring 
property in the Village (the site of the proposed 30 unit apartment development).    On the current 
Village land use map, the site is designated as Commercial/Business.   It is designated as Low Intensity 
Commercial/Business on the proposed Northeast Key Area future land use map as part of the on-going 
Comprehensive Plan Update. 
 
The map below shows the subject site highlighted in red.  The proposed apartment site is shown in 
green. 
 
 

                    
 



 

 

2 

 

 
Pursuant to submitted information and preliminary discussions with a representative of the applicant, 
an indoor storage facility is proposed for the east end of the site.   The west part of the site is proposed 
for a future multi-tenant development.  The category of “indoor, mini-warehouse” requires a 
conditional use in the B-2, General Business District and the B-3, Commercial Business District.  If 
annexed, the B-3 district would be the best fit for the site.   
 
As noted on the plan, a wetland crosses the site.  The wetland is part of the system that conveys 
drainage through the property to the south.   Overall, the subject site drains to the wetland.  The east 
side of the site is a plateau while the west side has a more pronounced slope down to the wetland.  
Several years ago I saw an older Certified Survey Map of site that showed a right-of-way reservation 
opposite Hidden Lakes Drive, as required by Waukesha County Highway Department. 
 
For your information, the Village and the Town of Vernon have begun preliminary talks about a 
boundary agreement.  This property could be within the Village’s ultimate boundary pursuant to initial 
talks.   
 
Below are points to consider as you provide direction to the potential applicant: 
 

1. Delaying action on an annexation request until a boundary agreement is finalized (annexation 
with a boundary agreement is a much easier and quicker process). 

2. Are the proposed uses appropriate for the location along with B-3 zoning? 
3. What is the proposal’s need for Village sewer and water, and can extension of the utilities be 

delayed until needed (I’ll provide more information about utility extension at the meeting)? 
 
I appreciate the opportunity to assist the Village with this matter.   Should any questions arise, please 
feel free to contact me. 
 
Cc:  John Weidl, Village Administrator (via email) 
  Steve Braatz, Village Clerk (via email) 
  Bob Harley, Supervisor of Inspections (via email)  
   Mark Blum, Village Attorney (via email) 
  Jeff Stien, Fire Chief (via email) 
               Kevin Schmidt, Police Chief (via email) 
               Dave Brown, Utilities Superintendent (via email) 
               Ron Bittner, Public Works Director (via email) 
               Robert Chandler, Applicant (via email) 
               Bill Canfield, Applicant Representative (via email) 
 






	20160815PlanCommissionAgenda
	#03-MINUTES
	20160712PlanCommissionMinutesdraft

	#04-PUBLIC HEARING
	20160815325BayViewRdStesDandECUNotice
	20160815575BayViewRdSte7CUNotice
	20160815MHSCUNotice

	#05-UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	#05a-Edgewood Village Apartments SPAR
	Edgewood Village Apartments SPAR 20160812 Planner Report
	Edgewood Village Apartments SPAR 20160705 Planner Report
	Edgewood Village Apartments SPAR Application
	Edgewood Village Apartments SPAR Plans

	#05b-IDC SPAR
	IDC SPAR 20160812 Planner Report
	IDC SPAR 20160708 Planner Report
	IDC SPAR Application
	IDC SPAR Narrative
	IDC SPAR PC Presentation Pg 1
	IDC SPAR PC Presentation Pgs 2-6
	002
	Sheets
	002 - 


	003
	Sheets
	003 - PLANS
	004 - PLANS
	005 - ELEVATIONS
	006 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES
	007 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES


	004
	Sheets
	003 - PLANS
	004 - PLANS
	005 - ELEVATIONS
	006 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES
	007 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES


	005
	Sheets
	003 - PLANS
	004 - PLANS
	005 - ELEVATIONS
	006 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES
	007 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES


	006
	Sheets
	003 - PLANS
	004 - PLANS
	005 - ELEVATIONS
	006 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES
	007 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES


	007
	Sheets
	003 - PLANS
	004 - PLANS
	005 - ELEVATIONS
	006 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES
	007 - 3D EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES



	IDC SPAR Architectural Plans Pg 1
	IDC SPAR Architectural Plans Pgs 2-7
	IDC SPAR Civil Plans
	Survey
	16-0614_CJE1615R1-C1.0

	IDC SPAR PC Fire Suppression Letter


	#06-NEW BUSINESS
	#06a-DAA Smokehouse CU
	DAA Smokehouse CU Plannner Report
	DAA Smokehouse CU Application
	DAA Smokehouse CU Plan of Operation
	DAA Smokehouse CU Plans

	#06b-Eddie Cash CU
	Eddie Cash CU Planner Report
	Eddie Cash CU Application
	Eddie Cash CU Plan of Operation

	#06c-MHS CU
	MHS CU Planner Report
	MHS CU Application
	MHS CU Overall Site Plan
	MHS CU Plat of Survey
	MHS CU Floor Plans and Elevations
	MHS CU Braves Shed Drawings
	MHS CU Braves Shed Plan of operation
	MHS CU Braves Shed Wall Pack Block

	#06e-Dodd Property
	Dodd Property Planner Report
	Dodd Property Site Plan



